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(Tape #194)
FINAL
TYPED BY: Bevef?ey A. Foltz
February 8, 1380

EVISON: This is May 17, 1973. 1 am Herbert Evison. This after-
noon 1 am in the penthouse studio on top of the Interior
Building in Washington, D. C., and with me is Robert Utley,

who I think is called Director of the Office of Archeology

and Historic Preservation.

- As I told you, I want to start off by getting a sort of
skelton biography on here. First, when'andTWHéfe‘yéu'were
born; and tell me something about the family you were born

into.

UTLEY: I was born on Hallowe'en, October 31, 1929, which was
about two days before the big crash, (in fact, I think it
was Black Thursday or some such} in Bauxite, Arkansas. My
father was a chemist with the Aluminum Company of America,
and Bauxite is where they mine the stuff from which aluminum
is made. I was the first of two children. 1 have a sister
who is four years younger than I. But I spent the first six
years of my life in Bauxite, Arkansas, before my father was

transferred by Alcoa fo New Kensington, Pennsylvania, where
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the chemical laboratories of the company are located. I
guess I put in the second and third grades in New Kensing-
ton. About the time World War II broke out, Alcoa buiit a
new plant in Lafayette, Indiana, and so we were transferred
there, and I have ever since regarded Indiana really as my
princjpa? home, though my parents don't live there now
either. But that is where I went to grade school, and where “
I went to high school - a Tittle town by the name of Daytbn,

about eight miles out of Lafayette.
EVISON: You were cheek-by-jowl with Purdue University.

UTLEY:  And that probably explains how I went to Purdue for four
years. It was a lot cheaper to do that. Though when I was
a Junior my parents were again transferred this time to the
Alcoa works in East Saint Louis, and so they moved on to
Lebanon, ITlinois, ahd I staved on in Lafayette to finish
at Purdue. 1 graduated from Purdue with a B. S. degree in
1951, and the following autumn I went down to Indiana Uni-
versity to continue my education in history. Actual}y, I
planned to be a lawyer. My grandfather was a rather promi-
nent judge and political figure in Arkansas, and taking

him as a model I was embarking on a legal career.

EVISON: But history was yoeur undergraduate major, too?
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UTLEY: Well, it turned out to be. Actually, what I intended
to do was a three-three program - three years ét Purdue in
pre-law and then three years ét Indiana in law, and then
you graduate as a lawyer. 1 supbose this is where the
National .Park Service comes in, if you want to enter that

‘subject right now.

When I was a kid, I went to see a hovie called "They Died
With Their Boots On." You remember that, with Errol Flynn
playing the part of General Custer. And I became fascinated -
with the whole story of Custer and the battle of the Little
Bighorn, and went down to the local library and,goﬁ all the
bocks on it and read fhem all avidly, and became cne of that
really world-wide fraternity of Custer nuts that spend a lot
of time and energy trying to figure out what nobody will |
ever be able to figure out,.— what happened at the Little

-Bighorn.

- 1 worked in Witmer's drug store in Dayton, Indiana, jerking
sodas when I was going to high school, and I saved ub enough
money. I think that was the summer of 1946; that I bought |
a bus ticket and went out to Custer Battlefield., OF course,

then, as now, there is no real transportation up to Custer.
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At the time, Custer Battlefield was presided over by Major

Luce., Do you remember him?
 EVISON: Yes. A worshiper of Custer.

UTLEY:  Very much so, énd, of course, himself a veteran of the
| 7th Cavalry baék around the turn of the century. So I had -
written to him in advance, and he wrote back and said if I
let him know when I was coming, he would meet me at the
train. So he did. He went down every morning to meet the
‘mail train, and I got off the train and he took me in tow

and took me up to the battlefield.
EVISON: That would have been at what railroad stop?

UTLEY:  Crow Agency..'Thaf'is 3 miles from Custer Hiil. So he
took me up to the hill ahd turned me loose. They took me
in for tunch and fed me, because there was no p]éce up there
to eat, and feale kind of gathered unto themselves this |
young fellow., 1 was between my junior and senior years of
high school, 16,year§ old, and so, of course, that experi-

ence made a real Custer nut out of me.

When 1 got home that winter I was readihglthis little leaf-
let they pass out up there, and it said in the summer months

‘they hire guides to talk to people about the Custer battle.
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So in my naivete I wrote to him and said I would like to
be one of them. And he wrote back and said, "Well, you are
only 16 years old.and you have got to be 21 before the Park

Service can hire you." So that dashed that hope.

_But the following spring, right before I was due to graduate

from high school, 1 Qot a letter from him saying, "Ne'can;t
find anyone else. Are you still interested in coming up?"®
I was py‘now 17. He said, "If you are, Qe.wi11 see what we
can do." So, of course, I fell all over myself saying [

was. That was when Yellowstone was the ccordinating super-

intendency, so, of course, it was under the old Region II,

warking out of Omaha, and Edmund Rogers was superintendent.
But he wouldn't have any part of hiring a 17-year-old. And
Laurence Merriam was the Regional Director, and he wouldn't

either. " They were both of them hidebound bureaucrats.

But he couldn't find anyone eise, so finally they said, “NeTl,
if you will take personal responsibi]ity for hiring a kid
that young, go ahead and do it." So if came through, and -
with great joy I went to Custer Battlefield in the summers

of ‘47, '48, '49, '50 and '51.

So, during those years, what had started out to be an exercise
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in pre-law turned inte an interest in history. And when it
came time to leave Purdue to go to Indiana‘Universify, I was
so fmmersed in.history that I decided to stay the fourth
year, and by that time I was hooked. So I went to Indiana
te do graduate work in history. I did my master's dégfée
“there under Oscar weniher, and in frontier American hisfory.
I was there for two semesters and I got my master's degree
the first spfing of '52, and I went té Custer Battlefield

that summer.

Of course, Korea had broken ]Qose then. 1 had been avoid-

ing the draft for a good maﬁy years on an sducational defer-
ment, s0 I'decided to get my army service out of tﬁe way be;
fore going on to get my doctorate in histery. So that summer

I spent at Custer Battlefield, and had my draft papers trans-
ferred out to Montana. During Séptember, ihe Luces went a-

wéy for a month's vacation. I was a GS 3 acting superintendent
for one month. I started out as SP 2. You remember it,

the SP series, don't you - $1700 per annum?
EVISON: Sub-Professional.

UTLEY: In October '52, they drafted me, and sent me to Butte,
to be inducted and 1 had some faint hope that the doctors

would find something wrong with me, but they didn't. So I
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come an officer 1 had to sign up for another two yeérs; 3

graduates of that course, and distinguished graduates were 5

went on to Fort Lewis, Washington, and then on down to
Camp Roberts, California, and I very quickly discovered
that the 1ife of a private in-the army is not bne that a

gentleman should have to lead. So, therefore, I would be-

come an officer.

Unfortunately, it took them two years to get around sehd-
ing me to Officer Candidate School in Fort Benning, Georgia.
And, of course, by that time the end of my term of service

as a draftee for two years was near. But in order to be-

which I did. So I had four years in the army.

They kept me at Fort Benning after I graduated, as an Infan-
try Second Lieutenant. 1 was one of three distinguished
coming under a great'pressure to stay there, and become a
part of the tactical force training other candidates. So

1 remained at Officers Candidate School as a tactical officer,

But I soon discovered that that was no 1ife for a gentieman
either, because Jjust as when you were a candidate, you have
got to get up in the morning and run five miles with them
Eefore breakfast, and so forth. And so back to the Park

Service again. Because Major Luce, if you will remember
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was terribly impressed with all things milifary and the
higher thé rank the moré impressed he was: During the time
at Custer Battlefield, among our friends and frequent
visitors were Colonel Boyce Custer, who was the coToneT’s.
gra2at-grand nephew, who in fact had just come from Japanr
where he had commanded the 7th Cava?ry, which of course

was the great-uncle’s regiment; and Colonel "Wild Bili“
Harris, who commanded-the /th Cavalry in Korea, was among
our friends, alsc. By the time I got out 6f gfficer
Candidate Sghoo! he was a general, and Luce sicked him
onto me to get him to tryrto persuade me to stay in ﬁhe
Army and make a career out of it, which he did. At the
time [ Qas drafted Luce wrote to another army officer whose
name you will recognize, Roy Appleman. He was a Lieutenant
Colonel on leave from the Park Service, with the Army, and
he had just come back from Korea, where he.was a combat
historian and, as you know, he subsequently wrote the Army's

official history of that first vear of the Korean War.
EVISON: He is one of my great admirations, I might say.

UTLEY:  He was my principal deputy for several years, so I have

great admiration for him also.

That was a switch too, it was he who played a very
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instrumental part in my coming back to the Park Service,

because Luce wrote to him when I got drafted, knowing he

was in the Army, and having great respect for those two

silver ocak leaves, and said, "Utley would make 5 good
military historian,” and why didn’'t he, Appleman, gat him
in to Washington to work fn the Army's history apparatus.
So during that summer when I was funning with the candi-
dates ét Fort Benning, Roy Apb]eman, by thié time, was back
on active duty.heré in Washington writing his history of

the Korean lar.

He made a great_effort,to find a place for me in the office
of the Chief of Mijitary History, but that came to naught.
But one day he was over at the Joint Chiefs of Staff in the
Pentagdn, and they have a historical division over there,
too. Over there they had had for years several field grade
positions, Lieutenant Colonel in the Army and Commander in

the Navy, to which they assigned officers to serve as

historians. But to the career officer, that is a dead end;

so they were getting a Tot of dead beats in there who didn't
know anything about history; so they decided they would

fi11 those high ranking positions with junior officers who

had been trained in history. I came along just at that time.

MIRIGINE N




~ officers; once they get you over there you don't get out,

o 10.
So Roy managéd through his contacts at the Joint Chiefs of
Staff to interest them in me. 1 remember I drove up to
Atlanta to be interviewed by Bell Wiley who is one of the
foremost'American historians today and then, the éutho? of
Johnny Reb and Billy Yank, those books ahout thg Civil War.
And he waS also a consultant to the Joint Chiefs of Staff.
He interviewed me and told them I would brobably do all

right. And so the orders were cut.

'I remember very distinctly that the Officers Candidate

- School has a reputation of being sort of a graveyard for

because they swing enough clout that anyone they want to

keep, they can keep. But here one day came the set of orders

© transferring Second Lieutenant Robert M. Utiey from Fort

Benning to the Pentagon 0ffice of the Joint Chiefs of Staff,r : é
and it was signed by Matthew B. Ridéeway, General, U. S. | |
Army, Chief of Staff. Tﬁe executive officer ;t Officer‘
Candidate Schooj called me in. He was a light colonel, and
he shook hands and he says, "Lt. Utley, I‘want to wish you .
the best 6f success_in‘washington. But there is just one

thing I would like to know: how in the hell did you do it?"

So as a Second Lieutenant I came to Washington in the Joint
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Staff. You know, that is a restricted area in the Pentagon.
You have got to have special credentials fo get in there, so
I was the on]y_Second Lieutenant in an organization ;omposed
of 250 officers of general and flag'fank, and caused con-

siderable curiosity in those restrictad corridors, so much

so that every time those generals would see ma at the end

of the corridor, they would laugh and wave at the spectacle
of a.Second Lieutenant in those hallowed halls of the Joint

Chiefs of Staff.

But, I got there in September of '54 and the historical sec-
tion of the Joint Chiefs of Staff had spent the last 6 or 7
years writing the history of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in
World War II, and Admiral Arthur Radford was then Chairman
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, and really none df the Joint
Chiefs or officers on the Joint Staff cared very much about

their role of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in World War II at

~that time, and it had just dawned on them that just maybe

the historians might have scmething to contribute to what

they were doing then and there.

And what they were doing then and there was flapping around
about something called Indo-China, because three months

earlier had been the battle of Dien Bhen Phou and the French
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‘exp]usion from Indo-China, and the United States was flow-
ing into the vacuum. So T got there just as Admiral Rad-
ford said to the historians, “"Give me a documented history, |
within four months, of the Joint Chiefs of Sfaff’s involve-
ment in the whole Indo-China business from the beginning."
So this then is what I did for most of my assignment with.

the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

EVISON: Which Tasted how long?

CUTLEY:  Well, that particular project lasted four months, but
I was involved in it thereafter, and I was with the Joint

Chiefs of Staff from September '54 until when I got out of

=
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the Army in September '56 and was immediately hired as a
civilian historian, because they were in‘the process of

civilianizing at that time.

I had planned to go back to Indiana and get my Ph. D. in.

history as soon as I got out of the Army.

That was in September '56, but then in May of '56 I got

'married, to Lucille Dorsey. her maiden name before she hook-
ed up with me. I met her here in VWashington at the wedding -
-bf one of my classmates from Fort Benning who was marrying !

a Washington girl who was my prospective wife's roommate at
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Penn State University. And Lucille comes from Greensburg,

Pennsylvania, which is just east of Pittsburgh. We met in

June of '55 and I started courting her durlng the ‘0110w1ng
w1nter, and I qu1ck1y concTuded that trying to court a wo-

man over the Pennsylvania Turnpike in mid-wintar was abso-

Tutely out of the question; if you have evef had the ex-

per1ence of driving on the Turnp1ke, you will know what I
mean. So we decided to get marr1ed wh1ch we d1d in May

'56.

At that point we still planned to go back to Indiana Uni-
versity, but obviously there are financial implications now

that didn't exist before I got married. And meanwhile, the

Joint Chiefs of Staff Historical Division was in the process'

of civilianizing; they were putting a good deal of pressure
on me to stay there as a civilian, and they said they would
give me a GS 9, which was a 1ittle more at that tfme than
someone with my eduﬁation ﬁould qualify for. _That wasn't

enough, really.

I still was going to go back to school, but finally they
said, "Well, we will engage in an exercise in writing, as

we all know how to do in personnel papers, to make your ex-

perience plus your education equal a GS 11, if you will stay.

i
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i
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And, boy! that was pretty good pay at that time for a young

fellow just out of school, so I said, "All right, if you can
hire me as an 11 I will stay," and by golly, they did it.
So I remained for another year as a civilian. But meanwhile,

to get back to the Park Service again.

You are familiar with the Westerners Club all around, lots
of cities have corrals of Westerners Clubs, which are just
local business men and others who are interested.in western
histofy, who gét together oncé a month, have a drink and
dinner and talk about western history. Washington didn't

have a corral, and a few people got together in December of

1954 to form one, up at the Cosmos Club here. And among the

founding members were Roy Appleman, who had retﬂrned to the
Park Service, and Ronnie Lee, who was then Chief of the

Division of Interpretation, and Herb Kahler, who was Chief -

~ Historian; and Lon Garrison was in on that, and two or three

others from the Park Service, inciuding Jdack Dodd. I wasn't
at that December '54 meeting, but January '55 was the very
first meeting which we convened up there at the Cosmos Club
and Tistened to Geperal U. S. Grant, ITI tell about his grand-

father's experiences in California before the Civi} War.

Well, the Westerners Club gbt off to a real good start
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there, and we met every month at the Cosmos Club during the
winter months. The following December 1 gave a speech on
Custer to a very well attended meeting. At that time Connie
Wirth was attending all the Westerners Club meetings for
this reason. He had a pet scheme of his that hé was trying
to promote; that he called Mission 66, and he had it all
packaged up and what he was trying to do wés to get an oppor-

tunity to present this to President Eisenhower.

One of our regular members attending Westerners Club was
Bradley Patterson, who was the special assistant to Eisen-
hower. He is now speciaT assistant to President Nixon and

is still in the White House. And so Connie was trying this
route. And that worked. It was largely through Brad Patter;
son, if you remember?_that Connie got the opportunity to pre-
sent Mission 66 to lke. But for that reason he was very
regular in his attendance during that year at the Westerners
Club, and he heard me speak on Cﬁster. He had met me be-
fore, out at the Custer Battiefield, but didn't remember me.
But after the meeting was over he told Herb Kahler on the
way out, "You ocught to get him back into the Park Service.”

0f course, Connie managed to sell Mission 66.

As a part of Mission 66 they reactivated the Historic Sites
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Survey. So in the summer of 1957 (I guess it was actually
in the spring), while I was a civilian historian at Joint
Chiefs of Staff, Herb and Ronnie and Roy all made overtures-
to me to come back to the Park Service with the Historic
Sites Survey._ They said they would givé me the Philadelpnia
assignment - that was Region Fiye fhen - and 1 sald I was
very happy with the Joint Chiefs of Staff and anticfpated a.
good career there, but my first love was still western his-
tory and the West, and if they would give me Santa Fe in-
stead of Philadelphia T would come back to the Park Service.
They had_aiready'put Pete Shedd on the Tist for Santa Fe, |
but they persuéded him to go to Philadelphia, and T went to
Santa Fe to handle Region Three. Bill Everhardt went to
San Francisco to handle Region Four,'and Frank Sarles went
to Richmond to handle Region One, and Ray Mattison was in

Omaha on the Missouri Basin, so he handled Region Two.

My interest, however, wasn't really so much the Historic Site
Survey. What I really thought I wanted to do with my career -
and I didn't have any objective beyond that - was to be
Regional Historian in Region Three, and that was the only

Region that did not have a Regional Historian.

EVISON: It had a Regional Archaeologist, Erik Reed.

U IR T T (I T SR e e et e R

i ume ma



| 7.
UTLEY: That is right. Wuhen I went there, Charley Steen had be-

come the Regional Archaeologist, after that reorganization
in 1954 in which Erik Reed moved up to Chief of Interpreta-
tion. But all the other Regions had Regional Historiahs;
Santa Fe hadn't had one since-Aubrey Neasham and Bill Hogan,
I guess, right before World War II. They never got one
after the war. John Littleton had been out there in the

early 50's as part of that Arkansas-White-Red-River business.

So my aspirations - this was jgst a stepping stone, and Roy
and Herb both thought it could be parlayed into a position
of Regional Historian, which ultimately it was. I went
there in September '57 and conducted the Historic Sites Sur-
vey for that Region, under Hugh Miller, first, then Tom
Allen until 1962, when we finally got authority for the
position of Regional Historian in Santa Fe. I believe by

then they were calling it the Southwest Region.
EVISON: Yes, I think they probably were by then.

UTLEY:  So then I became Regional Historian under Tom Allen and
then Dan Beard came along. Actually, with the Historic
Sites Survey I functioned pretty much as Regional Historian
ényway; and my principal interests were more in the existing

units in the System and the ones we had proposed. Southwest
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Region had a laundry 1ist of areés in the historicalrarea
category that we wanted to get into the System, and they
just weren't making any headway. We got Fort Union right
before 1 got there - Fort Union, New Mexico. And there

wWere a number that we wanted - had wantad for years: Fort

Davis was one of them; Fort Bowie was another one. Fort

‘Bowie was my first assignment to do the historical work on

that when I first went to Santa Fe. Hubbell Trading Post
was another one. The Golden Spike Area in Utah was still

another one. 0id Pecos, over near Santd Fe, was still an-

‘other one. So my real interest was in promoting these and

doing the historical studies.

Then we beganito get working with WODC on the‘intérpretive
and master planning phases of it, so I worked on all of
those. 1 did all of the historical studies for Fort Bowie,
for Fort Davis, and for Hubbell Trading qut, and for Golden

Spike, and finally for the Chamizal proposal. And I was an

“influential participant in the pianning for Fort Bowje and

the Golden Spike and Hubbell Trading Post, but principally
Fort Davis. This was one area in which I was there from the
beginning practically to the developed area stage, and of

all areas the one closest to my affections.

o e I T e



19.
EVISON: What strikes me is the variety of those things you
were concerned with, and also the fact that you_werelcon—
cerned directly with so many areas that actually became |

parts of. the System.

UTLEY:  That is in part a reflection of Connie's expansionism,
and it was an interesting sijtuation, becausé Hugh Miller
was very dedicated to getting Fort Bowie:; he really wanted
that; but beyond_that he didn't have any particular inter-
est in gettingrthe others. Under Tom Allen - of course, he
was a réa] conservative, and I don't believe thét Toh real-
1y thougnt the National Park Service ought to have to con- |
cern itself with historical areas, but since it did, and
that wasApart of his job, he would do it. But he wasn't.

about to go out of his way to get any new historical areas.

~And so eVerybody was frighténed ét the prospect of Tom Allen
coming in there, and me especially, because Roy Appleman -
my mentor - had been Tom Allen's Regijonal Historian in Rich-
mond, and those tﬁo, really the sparks flew, you know. But
Roy told me, "You don't have anything to worry about it,"
he said. "Tom is a hard-nosed old bastard, but he is fair
and he will respect your opinions if you stand ﬁp and tell
him what your opinjons are. He may knock you down, but you

stand up and tell him what you think." So that is the way



20.
I found that Tom had a higher regard for Roy Appleman than
he did for most people in the Park Service. So Tom and I

hit it off real well.

You know, he was deaf in one ear, and I am hard of hearing

in one ear; and so when I had to go to his office, we

would sit with our good éars to each other and shout at

each other.

EVISON: Just as you and [ are today.

UTLEY:  But Tom was against all of these areas. He was against

Fort Bowie; he was against Fort Davis; he was against
Hubba11 Trading Post; he was against Golden Spike. But
Connie was for all of them; Connie would take anything he
could get. And to his everlasting credit,‘Tom Allen never
surpressed any of my recommendations. My work, he always
sent on to Washington. He would say, "I am against this;
I don't believe we ought to do it, but here is what the

historian says." And, of course, when it got to Washington

Connie would take what the historian said, because it would

lead to another unit in the Park System. But I havé a very
fond memory of Tom Allen and the highest regard for him;
even though a lot of people around the System don't remember

him with great affection, 1 do. So when I came to ¥ashington
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Tom wrote me a very fine letter, which I still treasure,

advising me how to get along in the Washington scene.

EVISON: He had been an Assistant Director in here before.

UTLEY:  He had been everything. He had been superintendént of

all the big parks; he had been Regicnal Director of at
least three regions; he had been Assistant Director in
Washington. There wefe very few jabs of any {mportance

that Tom hadn't filled.

So, in '64, as Hartzog came onto the scene, of course, he
started building his own staff. Hartzog and I had had no
particular association before I came in here. I had met him
at a party at Tom Allen’s house one night early in '64, right

after he came back into the Park Service as an Assistant

Directar and really heir présumptive, I guess you would

say. But that wasn't enough for him to form any partfcd?ar
impression of me. But as Herb Xahler's retirement approach-
ed, of course, the question of a successor came into the
scene, and I expect Herb and Ronnie probably were the ones
primarily responsible for recommending me to George as
Herb's replacement. At that time the History Division, as
you well remember, was pretty much staffed by long-term

veterans - Charley Porter, Roy App1eman, Rogers Young,

T O
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and Harold Peterson and Walter Coleman. And for one reason
or another, none of them really, I guess, séemed quite the

right choice for the Chief Historian's position.

And so I was summoned in in May of '64 whiie-thay 1ookéd me
over and the recommendation was made. However, it got hung
up upstairs. You would not suppose that an Assistant Sec-
retaky would concern himself very deeply with a bureau
selection of a Division Chief down at that low level, but

Assistant Secretary John Carver remembered the name of

'"Utley“ and he remembered it unfavorably, but he couldn't

remember why he remembered it unfavorably, and so he sat

on my papers through June, through July, and into August.

Actually, what he was trying to remember but couldn't went
back to '61 when I was at Santa Fe and I was one of a hand-~
ful of western historians who assembled the Santa Fe Confer-
ence on the History of Western America, in 1967, as a ffrst.
step toward the formation of an asscciation of like-minded.
historians that had since become the Western History Associa~
tion. "~ But that was born at Santa Fe in 1961, and living
there, T was very fnstrumenta1 in the Tocal arrangements for
it. He had secured Secretary Udall's commitment to be our

banquet speaker, but at the Jast minute he was unable to
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come, so Carver came and gave the speech instead of Udall.

‘Carver gave a very fine speech; he had written it himself,

I am sure, because I wrote a draft that he threw out, and
Roy wrote a draft that he threw out. So he gave an excell-
ent speech, but it was a highly political one, you know,
comparing Kennedy's new frontier to Frederick Jackson
Turner's Frontier, and 1ﬁnkfng Turner, who is the patron
saint of western historians, to Kennedy, and so forth. But
it was just right for a banquet speech. I then was one of
several editors who assembied the scholarly papers that

were delivered at the Santa Fe Conference into a bbok that
was published. We didn't put his banquet speech, which wa§
po]iticé1 and not in the same category as the scholarly
papers, into the boék. And he got my name connected with-
purging his speech from that book, but he couldn't remember
in his mind ~ except that he knew he had something against
me. And he sat on those papers until Herb Kah1er-went up-
stairs and he said, "If you can't tell me what is the matter
with him, then it is not right for you to go on_keeping us
311 dangling like this." Because Herb, as you know, was on
the verge of retiring. So Carver a1lowed as how that was
fight, and since he couldn't prefer any charges he would let

the papers go, and so therefore - even though I wasn't all
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that anxious to come back; I had been enjoying myself as
Regional Historian - but at the same time I had kind of an
inkling that the old order was going to change in waysrthat
perhaps were not foreseeable, and that maybe the job I had
known might not remain as such. And, of course, tnat turned
out to be an accurate prediction, because the new regime
wiped out the whole old system of Regional Historians. So

it was a good move that I made.

EVISON: 1 didn't realize that at that time Regional Historians

jobs were eliminated.

UTLEY:  Well, 1t came along very shortly thereafter. 1 served
George ﬁartzog pretty loyally for many years, and I had a
very high regard and respect and personal affection for
him, but still there are things that he did that I never
did and never will agree with, énd one of them was to take
the professional people out of the Regional Offices. That
is what he did in one of those first of the interminabie
series of reorganizations. The old institutfon as we knew

-it, of Regional Historians, was eliminated. He saw the error
of his ways; well, I don't know whether he admitted .it to
himself, but at least the last reorganization befcdre he left

restored the professional people to Regional Offices.



UTLEY: - had just rendered jts report

25’"
Well, at that t1me there was a whole series of reorgan1-

zations. But at that t1me the ‘Leopold Comm1ttee - wasn't "

it the one that first really hit us hard on the inadequacy

of research in the National Park Service? -

EVISON: - Yes, it was.

» and of course the thrust
of their criticism really had to do with natura] sciences,

and that still really is the problem, when you talk about

research

When our critics ta]k about research, they are thinking in
terms of natural sciences research: What 1S'the‘carrying
'capacity of Yellowstone for elk? But history and. archaeology
has aTways suffered from the fact that we do research, too
and every time the Park Service does something about research

it is on the basjs of needs in natural sciences, but it sucks

‘archaeology and history along with it.

And so, responding to these criticisms, 6ﬁe of those first
reorganizations Created an Assistant Director for Resource
Studies, and, if you will recall, transformed the old History
Division and that porticn aof it that was Afchaeoiogy, trans-

formed it into a separate division and bracketed it with the
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old Natural Sciences Division into an Assistant Divrector-

ate for Resource Studies,

Well, this proceeded from-a fundamehtaT‘misapprehension
that those divisions were really concerned in any very
direct way with research and research only. Those divi-
sions had always been staff divisions concerned with the
whole spectrum of National Park Service involvement in
histbry, all the way from interpretatéon to Congressional

retations to new areas, to historic site surveys, and to

- research. But research, of course, had been pretty much a

catch-as-catch-can proposition, on the paﬁk Tevel, and the

Nashington_ﬂffice had never been concerned with a research

program. And now the requirement was to have a research - ..

program.

But all those other reSpénsibf]ities didn't just go away,
you see. So what was expected of that Resource Studies
Office - Ben Thompson was sent in there to head it up -
this was right after the big fight with 8.0.R. and Ben was
being got out of the relationship between the National

Park Service and the Bureay of Qutdoor Recreation.

The purposes were never accomplished, simply because they

could not have been, because by definition the Washington

iy A a1 B RILINIEAI]

Yy AR TR N 1 4 e 3

{
i
S |



27.

Office has to have a Division of History to take care of

- all historical concerns, and the research end of it turned

out to be simply a massive paper-shuffling operation that

never came to anything.

And Ben then retired, és you may remember, probably about
1965, and Howard Stagner, who was his deputy assistant
director, acted for a long time and then became Assistant

Director for Resource Studies.

But T will always remember, I was attending.a convention of

.the American Historical Association over at the Shoreham

Hotel - I guess that would have been right after Christmas
of 1965 - and 1 had a message delivered to me saying,
"Hartzog wants to see you." So I rushed out and got a cab -
and went back to the office and up to Hartzog's office, and
there were two or three otherérthere._ John Littleton was’
there, and méybe Charley Porter was there. George’s style
of course was always one of keeping the opposition off bal-
ance. He managed to keep everybody off balance ali the time.

So he said, "A11 right. What is the research program?"

I was almost without words, because we had no research pro-
gram. What I really should have said, and would have if I

had known him better, was "there isn't any." But I hemmed
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and haﬁed all over the place, because the History Division
had gone on doing what it had always done, simply because
that had to be dona. He very quickly perceived, if he
didn't already know, that there really wasn't anything more
than a paper shuffling exercise. And he said, "Al1 right.
What do you need to do in order to have a research program
that you can take responsibility for?" I said, "I can't
take responsibility - I cannot be respbnsib1e to you for a
research program that depends upon the interest and concérn.'
and activity of the Regional D%rectors, because they aren't
all that concerned with it, and what we had up to that time
'was simply the superintendents sending papers to the Regions,
and the Regions sénding it to the Washington Office, and it

getting filed. And what happened after that?"

S0 he said, "All right. You go out and design a research
Program that you can be responsible to me for." So I did,
in connaction then with probably the next reorganization.
But I identified throughout the parks those people on the
Park and Regional staffs who were doing nothing but re-
search, and who therefore if research was no tonger a reg-
ional responsibility could be surrendergd. And there turned
oﬁt to be 12 or 14 or something like that. So I took

my plan back up to him and said, "You Tet me transfer
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all those people in here and put them into the Division of

History, and I will do the research." He said, "QOkeh," and

so we did.

We assembled a cadre here I think of 12 to 15 research his~
torians among the best in the Service, and we set Up a ser-
ies of teams: a Civil Mar Team, a Colonial and a Federa]

Team, and one on Westward Expansion; two men in each one.

We couldn't get spacé for all those people in the Interior
Building here. They were then setting up that Service Cen- .
ter over in Ross?yn; you know. - This was‘jusé when Rosslyn
was being renewed, and all those buildings were going up -
1966 - so the whole Division of History moved over to Ross-
lyn into the Service Center, even though I continued to re-

port to Howard Stagner‘as_Assistant Director for Resources

Studies.

And, of course, the Historic Sites Survey got mixed up into
this, because it had been overtaken by inflation, and as
salaries went up, the appropriations did not go up, so there
were no longer enough Historic Sites Survey hfstorians for
each Region, so obviously something had to be done .there
too. So we centralized the Historic Sites Survey at the

same time that we centralized Research, and brought all these
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people into the Washington O0ffice also, and conducted the

nation-wide Survey right out of the Division of History.

EVISON: Hell, it strikes me that there is such an awfully strong

relationship there between the two that it was a very sensi-

ble bit of arrangement.

UTLEY:  Very much so. In fact, when I took over it was so- inter-
locked that it could hardly be pulied apart. Subsequently
it has evolved more, so that it is more separate from the

other historical concerns.

EVISON: I am curious about one thing: 1 don't remémber just who
all were in the Branch of History at that time, but then or

earlier, any way, you had had researchers 1ike Charley

Porter -

UTLEY:  Well, they weren't researchers. They were staff histor-

“jans.

EVISON: Well, Rogers Young's career was very heavily résearch,

certainly in his earlier years.
UTLEY: In his earlier years, yes.

EVISON: And Roy Appleman's also. But they were just staff

historians?
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UTLEY: By the 1950's they were the ones who were preparing

the Secretarial correspondence ahd'supporting the legis-

lative program, and what I called management history is what

these people were doing.

CharTey Porter retired in 1965. He was my principal deputy
ﬁhen I became Chief Historian. And I must say, to Chariey's -
credit, that it took an awful lot, I am sure, for him to

swallow é young kid.of 34, or whatever I was, coming in as

- Chief Historian over a man of his credentials and service,

who real]y'was older -than my father. But he did it, and he

helped me sincerely and whole-heartedly to adjust to the

Washington aspect of 1ife.

Rogers did the same thing, and I am sure it was hard for
Rogers, too. Both of those people were not men without egos,
you know. They both had a good opinion of themselves, S0

that made it even harder, I know.

By this time Roy had been méved ihto Interpretation, in one
of the rebrganizations, So he wasn't there. And Harold
Peterson had moved into the Museum operation. MWalter Cole-
man retired right before I came in. So the ones I inherited
then were Rogers Young, Charley Porter, and Joe Cullen was

here; he is in Richmond now. Then Charley retired, and that
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Teft Rogers, and Rogers then, in the reorganization of

1966 when we assembled all of those researchers, became
the Chief of the Branch of Park History Studies, - my prin-
cipal deputy and the one who was concerned or charged with
organizing and conducting a nation-wide in-park historical
research program. John Littleton then was heading the
Historic Sites Survey} and he retired very shortly after

we moved to Rosslyn, in the spring of 1966, and Dr. Sydney
Bradford became the Chief of the Historic Sites Survey.

Syd now heads the grant~1n~aid.program in-my office over in
the National Register. -Then subsequently Syd left the Park
Service and went over to the National Endowment for the Hu-.

manities. And when that happened, about 1967, Horace Shee-

- ley became Chief of the Historic Sites Survey, and still is.

S0 we operated out of Rosslyn then through 1966 and 1967.

But meanwhile, the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966
came along {that was enacted in October), which, as you know,
gave the National Park Service major'new responsibilities in
the field of historic preservation. It commanded us to ex-
pand this relatively small corps of National Historic Land-
marks into a great National Register of Historic Places that
1ists everything in the nation worthy of preservation, clear

down to the Tevel of community significance, and authorizes
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us to conduct a grant-in-aid program to the States and to

~ the National Trust for Historic Preservation to help them

jdentify what places ought to go onto the Register, and

then to help them preserve them thereafter.

So this represented a major advance in the over-all national
historic preservation policies and programs, and a major

new responsibility charged to the National Park Service.

And, by the way, George Hartzog was extremely influential
and 1 believe decisive in the legislative maneuverings that
1ed finally to the enactment of this Taw. - Without de~-
Vtracting.from'the significant role others played, I believe
he intervened at a couple of decisive points that would
have lost it for us if he hadn't been there. There was a
lot of pulling and hauling, especially between_lnterior,aqd
HUD (Housing and Urban Development) over who ﬁés goihé to

get that program. So we got it. Obviously this new law and

new money and new programs had some serious implications

for organization again.

EVISON: As though there weren't enough without it

UTLEY: That's right. And T am sure Dr. Conatly this morning

probably gave you soue of the story of how that came about.
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The Directer, I think primarily through the inspiration of
Ronnie Lee, who played a very'key role all though this
period after his retirement, in pointing Hartzog in the
right direction on historic preservation and standing in

~ there when George might have been inclined to yield to

some of the management types.

EVISON: It was a very wonderful thing that George had the con-
fidence in Ronnie Lee that enabled Ronnie to wield that in-

fluence, too.

UTLEY:  That is true. And it is curious too, because-as a
Regional Director Ronnie didn't have much influence with
George, and there was mofe friction than there was harmony
between them. And of course at that time, right before his
retiremeﬁt, Ronnie was not in good health; in fact, he was
in severe pain almost Cdntinuous]y. So in my view he played
a much more influential role in the direction the Natjona1

Park Service went,. after he retired, than he did in these

years he was Director of the Northeast Regioh.

EVISON: Of course, his great previous influence was during the

time that he was in here.

UTLEY:  Oh, absolutely. In the early years after the Historic
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Sites Act of 1935 was enacted, he was a key figure, and
then he became a key figure again after his retirement, in

the implementation of the 1966 Act.

As you know, he and Joe Brew, the archaeologist of Har-
vard University, and Ernest Conéd?y, of the University of
I17inois as an architectural historian, were convened as a
special committee by Hartzog to recommend to him how the
Nationa1‘Park Service ought to organize jtself to carry out
the new law. Now, that committee‘was meeting before the

law was enacted, and their report may have come along at

‘about the same time or immediately after the passage of the

law. But most of the work was done in anticipation of the

taw, rather than as a result of it.

Well, that commiftee,recommended to him what the historians
had been saying ever since 1935: You have got to recognize
the difference in principles and techniques and management
requirements between historical areas, historic preservation,
and nature preservation. This is an issue the Park Service
had never been willing to face up to, and hasn't yet. But
the burden of the report from that special committee was:

"Face up to it."

“Face up to it. Jay Thomas Schneider told you this in 1935
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when he prepared a special report for Ickes. You ignored

it then. We are telling you now. Don‘t ignore it this

time."

And what they recommended of course was that histary and
archaeology be separated out from natural sciences; - they
6ughtn’t to be together; they are two wholly different
things, - and made responsive to their own professional.
directioh and not with the intervention of any other manage-
ment level of the Park Service. That is what Schneider

said in 1935, that the dominant orientation of the manage-
ment of the Nat10na1 Park Serv1ce has always been, a]ways

will be, and perforce must be, of a different complexion

than needed for historic preservation. I mean it is going

to be the managers of natural and scenic areas that run the

Park Service, and history is a wholly different business.

EVISON: I I remember rightly, this Conservation Foundation con-

ducted a report that was made public last summer, recommend-

ing a natural physical separation of the historical group

into a separate bureau, didn't jt?

This is a digression, and I want to come back to that

1966 Special Commitee report.

TN L n
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But I believe that the burden of the Conservation Foundation
report has Tess to do with where the historical areas ought
to go than a conviction on the part of the people who are
ﬁonceptualizing fhe Department of Natural Resources that

the historical areas don't belong there.

In other words,. I am changing the emphasis a Tittle. 1
don't believe the Conservation Foundation or the people who

are attempting to conceive a department of Natural Resources

- really care where the historical areas go. 1 think what

they see is that they don't belong in a Department of
Natural Resources. And I believe that is what was being

said.

the Smithsonian or the National Trust or the Endowment for
the Arts, at all. But where they ought to go is a guestion
that has plagued people invoived in this business ever since
1935, because the Schneider report said the way they do this
in Europe is to have a separate bureau for the preserva-
tion of their historic monuments. Ve ought to do that here.
This is Schneider talking to Ickes. But.for reasons that
had already been set forth, an existing Sureau, Schneider

says it can be done by your existing National Park Service.
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And by the time he had written his report, Ickes had al-

‘ready decided to do it that way.

~ But Schneider said: "If you decide to do it that way, let

the National Park Service run it, - you have to organize

~yourself in such a way that it recognizes the fundamental

distinction between running Yellowstone and running York-
town Battlefield. And this means that there be a separate
history branch (they called them branches in those days,

fnstead of divisions), run by professionals in the.busi-

ness, reporting directly to the Director without the inter-

vention of any other management level. And he had organiza-

tion charts to illustrate it.

The Park Service did not then, nor has it ever since, been

able to bring itself to do that.

EVISON: When Ronnie Lee first came in as the first Chief His-

torian in what way did the set-up differ? Was he answer-

able to anybody except direct to the Director?

UTLEY: I don't remember the details of that. If he was not,

I am sure he reported to somebody other than the Director.
There must have been an Assistant Director. 0Of course, this

was mixed up in those relief programs too, and so some of
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History was over with the Bond Bui?ding crowd and some
elsewhere, I think. Of course, I wasn't there at the time
and’I can't speak from personal knowiedge, but the fact
was that the historical areas continued to be managed in
the same way tnat natural areas were, by managers wno ro-
tated between the two, who were answerable to a Regional
Director after about 1939, in the same way that the natural
and scenic area superintendents were, so that it was aill
mixed up together, and there was not the identification of
personnel to specialize in running histofical afeas which
Schneider felt was necessary, and thaﬁ the Europeans have
done as a matter of practice for years, and that most of us
in the business of historic preservation in the Park Ser-

vice have Tong felt should be the case.

This doesn't mean that everything has been a disaster. This
simply reflects a feeling that the historical areas have not
been run as well as they could have been and should have

been and should be.

But the current proposals inciuding the Conservation Founda-
tion report I think stem less from a concern over the proper
management of the historical areas than from a concern over

the purity of the natural area.
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In other words, they see history as an interference with

and a burden on natural preservation. And this whole ques-
tion has been brought into very sharp focus by the accumuia—
tion of responsibilities in—the field of historic preserva-
tion beyond the park boundary, that has come about in the
last decade er less, beginning with the 1966 Act - well,
beginning with the Resérvoir Salvage Act of11960 and the

Archaeological Salvage program.

The Historic Sites Survey had always been there. HABS was
reactivated - had always been there - the Historic Ameri- _.
can Buildings Survey. Then came the 1966 Act in which we
got into the National Regiéter,rthe grants-in-aid program.
Then came the 1969 Environmental Protection Act in which

we get into the business of writing environmental impact
statements and reviewing everybody else's {rom the stand-

point of historic preservation.

Then came the President's Executive Order of 1971 on pre-

servation and enhancement of the cultural environment..

A1l of these have amounted to almost the tail wagging the

dog.

I administer a 20-million-dollar program now, that is
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completely beyond the boundaries of the Parks; it has no-

thing to do with the National Parks. And there is a very
dis£inct feeling growing that these are-in fact interfering
with more basic concerns of the MNational Park Service, at
the same time that they are being penalized and rendered

tess effective by the dominant concern of this Bureay for

its basic mission, you see.

S0 there is a feeling that is growing that all of that ex-
ternal ‘accumulation of programs probably ought to be broken
off, if not altogether from the Park Service, at least

made into an organizational entity of its own.

Ta?king:about the proper composition of the National Park
System and expansionism and the philosophy of one-of-a-kind:
This has been a very real concern in the historical area
category as we have come along, and my own conviction in
that regard, my own belief is that the National Park Service
ought to be prepared to take on any proposed historic area
that had been found to possess national significance under
the criteria that we have used fn the Historic Sites Survey,
since the Historic Site§ Act, and that meets tests of suita-
biTity and feasibility. This, of course, is directly con-

tfahy to the one-of-a-kind approach.
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I see no reason why we should Vimit ourselves only to Fort
Laramie if Fort Larned and Fort Davis and Fort Union and

Fort Bowie are all nationally significant, all sﬁitable

and feasible, and in danger of Toss. Now, if somebody

else is taking goéd care of them, then Tet tﬁem go on doing
it, but‘1et us be ready, if the Mount ﬁernon Ladies Associa- -
tion folds, to open our arms and takelit over, and not re-

Ject it because we have the Washington Monument.

v

EVISON: Or Monticello.

UTLEY:  That is right. And this came to a head beginning in

1969; because George Hartzog was having monumental problems
with thebBudget Bureau on "Where does it all end? Where
are you going to stop expanding the National Park System?"
And to say that you have criteria of nafiona? significance
and feasibility and suitability and are prepared to support
any that meet these tests simply wouldn't cut it with the

Budget Bureau.

Se Hartzog summoned some of us up one day and he said, "We
have got to have a plan." Of course, we had been spending
hundreds of thousands of dollars for years trying to come up
with a National Park System plan, but it always broke down

on the very question of: Do you put Mount Vernon in it or
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not? ff you put it in, then you upset all the ladies, be-
cause they think you dre after Mount Vérnon; and if you
leave it out, then they say, "But Mount Vernon is the most

significant property in the United States.®

But Hartzog wanted a system of quantification, of measuring

where were the gaps in the National Park System and what it -

would take to fill them. And I said;, "I am fundamentally

SRS v S

- opposed fo that kind of approach. You cannot gualife his-

torical values and segregate them as to historical theme,"
which is what he wanted. He wanted us to take the themes

of the Historic Sites Survey and assign areas to those

themes and ascertain where the gaps were and what could be
supported to fill those gaps. I said, "We are going to paint
ourselves into the corner on this, because how many sites do
you have associated with Abraham Lincoln? You have got

Ford's Theatre, the house where Lincoln died, you have got

- Lincoin's boyhood home in Indiana, and you have got the

LincoTn birthplace in Kentucky."

EVISON: And the Lincoln Memorial.

UTLEY:  And the Lincoln Memorial. But you don't have THE prime

Lincoln site, which is his home in I11inois from which he

embarked on the presidency. So you go through this kind of
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quantification business and it is going to show that Abra-

~ham Lincoln is over-represented in the National Park System.

$0 When you want Lincoln's home you aren't going to be able

to Qet it," which, of course, is exactly what happened, and yet
we got it. But anyway, he had to have a system like this.

So we gave it to him. I said,-"Néw you have got to have

one area - one area can represent only one theme. Well,

this is crazy. Where do you .put the Jefferson Expansion
Memorial? Here is the Fur Trade, Overland Migrations, the

Santa Fe Trail, Lewis and Clark. -which one of these do you

put it in?"™

We -had to make a whole series of arbitrary judgments as to
where park areas should go, and we worked out the most fan-

tastic elaborate system. You may have seen it.

EVISON: No.

UTLEY:  And the naturalists were doing the same thing at the same

time. And really, I must say that it was a remarkable exer-

cise in intellectual legerdemain. We all gathered down at
Everglades one winter after all of this had been done. Frank
Masland had been put in charge of this on behalf of the
Advisory Board, and he was down there fishing off the

Everglades, you know. So we took our whole Committee down
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there and we got holed up in the motel, at the Inn, and we

decided the system would work, at least for Hartzog's pur-

‘poses, so long as we put enough qualifications on it. One

of the qualifications was that so Tong as THE prime site

associatad with a given theme or person is not in the

System, a gap éxists, so that you could have Lincoln sites

all over, as long as you didn't have the Lincoln home in
Springfield, there was a gap. But the whole thing was de-
signed to show statistically and by a graph that almost
every theme in the Park System had a gap, and that was real-
1y how we structured Tt.to come out, S$0O thét:aimost anything

you wanted would fil1l a gap somewhere.

The titie of this study was "Historical Representation in

- the Nationa]_Park System," and I think it is one of the most

revealing illustrations of ﬁhe wéy George's mind worked and
the brilliance of his bureaucratic thought, that the only
change he made in that was to cross out the title “Historic-
al Representation in the National Park System".aﬁd to sub-
stitute the titie "The National Park System Plan." For years
and years and years this Department had been struggling

with trying to get a National Park System Plan, and never
came up with one; and by the stroke of a pen he converted

a "Study" into a "Plan.™
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He published it in 5,000 copies which are floating all over
the country today and are supposedly the framework within
which we assess what ought to be added to the System.
But I guess that the point of my remarks is that this study
proceeded from a premise that 1 disagree with: the premise
being that the Mational Park System should pfesent_a com-
plete and balanced representation of our natural and histori-

cal heritage.

Now I said fhat is not my belief. My belief is that the |
Natibna? Park System ought to include evenythiﬁg of nationa}'s
fﬁportancé, national significanée, that nobody else is tak-
ing care of. You see, that is the other end of the

spectrum. But for reasons that had to do with the trouble
with the Budget Bureau - well, and I believe that it was his
basfc conviction too - that that was the objective of the

National Parks System.

EVISON: Do you feel that the existence of those volumes and of

that plan has in any significant way been a handicap?

UTLEY: No, it hasn't yet. 1In fact it has been a great asset,
and I cheerfully acknowledge the wisdom of his judgment in
that matter, even though I still disagree with that basic

premise of what a park system ought to be. It has been an
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enormously useful tool not 6n1y in terms of persuading the
Budget analysts and thes members of Congress with whom we
deal that we have a plan, that we‘have some system, that
we have some rationale about Qhere,we are going and when

we might be likely to get thers and how much it might cosi

along the way,rwhich is what we didn't have before. What we .

had before was simply an open-ended seriss of criteria that

could take us nowhere that we could describe.

So in that sense, in 2 very pragmatic sense, it has been use-

ful and we have had all kinds of good publicity over it, and -

it has earned us a great deal of praise. So I have acknow--
ledged to George that 1 was wrong in my resistance-to what
he wanted to do there. And the fact of the matter is that
just yesterday we have concluded arrangements to send a team
to Greece to do exactly the éame'things for the Greeks, the
same kind of approach. In fact, the man who headed our
historical team here - Frank Sarles - is going to be the one
who goes to Greece to do this for the Greeks. So things of-

ten turn out differently than they were expected.

I wanted to get back, though, to that Special Commitee 1in
1966. 1t consisted of Joe Brew and_Ernesﬁ Connally and -

Ronnie Lee. They came around and they talked with everyone

rtmew ot
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to try-to decide how the Park Service ought to organize
itself to take on that new responsibility, and'they came

up with the concept of an 0ffice of Archaeology and Historic
Preservation. In fact, they agonized long hours over the
name. But they couldn't find a name that comprehezndad all
of the disciplines involved and one that at the same time
was succinct and not cumbersome. The name they came up

with rather takes in all of the disciplines but it is as
cumbersome as hell. I mean, when somebody asks me my title

I have lost their interest by the time I have finished tell-

ing them.

And it was their conception that this 0ffice of Archaeology
and Historic Preservation in fact be the American equivalent
of the traditional European Monuments Office, in which you
had all of the research, all of the archival work, and all
of the construction development work. We had existing divi-
sions of history and archazology at that time. They recom-
mended that a third Division to comprehend the third basic
discipline of Historic Architecture be created from existing
personnel in the two Design and Construction Qffices who were
working with historic preservation, and that these be the
fhree basic professional divisions - History, Architecture,

and Archaeology - and then that there be a fourth Division -
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a National Register of Historic Places - that woufd take
care of this new external program, but each of the three
basic professional divisions would have two basic compon-
ents which we refer to, facetiously, as our "in-house"

and "out-house" components.

So,. in History, the Historic Sites Sufvey would continue
as the "out-house" responsibility, while there would be a
Branch of Park History. We would drop Park History Studies
from the old research unit that Rdgers Young used to head,
‘and call it Park History - still doing research, all the
research the Park Service needed, but also acknowledging
that there is staff work there also. And the Division pf
History would be headed by the Chief Mistorian, who is not
on]y'the Chief of the Division of History in the Office of
Archaeology and Historic Preservation but also the Chief

Historian of the National Park Service, you see.

Simitarly, with Historic Architecture, which would have an
in-Park Branch - the Branch of Restoraticns - and then the
out-house component, the Historic American Buildings Sur-
vey under the Chief Historical Architect. And then the
Division of Archaeology, Ia Tittle different from the others,’

but concerned basically with out-hcuse and in-house, the
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out-house being the archaeological salvage program, this

then under the Chief Archaeologist..

And it was acknowledged that the Branch of Restorations
in the Division of Historic Architecture would be a 1ittle
D&C, a 1ittle Design and Construction that would handle all

work related to historic structures that D&C had been hand-

Ting. That is, they would do the architectural research in

the fabric of the building, following the historians' re-
searcn in the documents, and the archaeologists' research
sub-surface. The architects would go into the fabric of
the building, and on the basis of their findings from the
documents, sub-surface, and the fabric of the bui1aing,
would do the working drawings and specifications, and then
actually provide the construction supervision - contracting
and construction supervisioh, Aﬁd that ﬁnit would take

our Restoration from beginning to end, and this would relieve

- D&C to work on new visitor centers and stuff Tike that.

About this time, parenthetically, Rogers Young suddenly had
to retire for health reasons. He came in one Monday after-
noon after a doctor's appointment and said, "The doctor says
I have to retire this week." And bing! he was gone, just

Tike that.
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At that‘time Roy Appleman was still over in Interpretaticn .
and very unhappy there. [ caught Hartzog getting off the
elevator one day and I said, "I want Roy Appleman to take
Rogers Young's place." He started arguing that Roy waén't
the man for that, and Roy wasn't too diplomatic, you know,
and "Roy shouldn't be a supervisor.” I said, "It is all
right will Bi11 Everhardt if it is all right with you."
And he said, "Aw, all right, go on and do it," just as the |

door closed and the elevator went down. .

.. S0 I was able to bring Roy back as my principal deputy, which

is a real irony, since Roy was the one who got me into the
Park Service to begin with. Roy was absolutely invaluable
for the balance of his years with the Park Service. He re-

tired, as you know, two or three years ago.

I think one of ihe most fevealihg stories [ have heard of
Roy, and one that sums up qu‘s absolute honesty of express-
ion, is the one they tell about the time the group went to
Gettysburg to decide where they were going to put the
visitor center. That had been a much debated question,
where to put the new visitor center. So they argued around
up there at some length, and finally Connie Wirth said, "We
are going to put it HERE." You know, just like Andy Jack-

son slapping his cane down over there where the Treasury

I I TR T [ R
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was built, you know, "We are going to build it HERE." Now
that I have made my decision I want to hear from Roy
Appleman why we shouldn't put it here.® And Roy told him
why they shouldn't put it there, and Roy of course was

absolutely right, and 1 think Connis quite frequently

| realized that - we?i, in fact I believe at that time

Connie acknowledged that Roy's reasons were usually right,
but they weren't always the ones that prevailed, for good
and sufficient pragmatic reasons. But he really was a great
guy, and he could always be depended on to tell you the
absolute truth.and there was absolutely no yield in his
thinking. When you had to do something because of expedi-
ency, he wouid simply disassociate himself from it and he

would tell you what was wrong with it.

The recommendations of that Lee-~Brew-Connally Committee, as
might be éxpected, encountered resisténce in the top eche-

Tons of the Park Service.

For one thing, it meant that Howard Stagner would be out of
a job as Associate Director, and I must say that Howard's
attitude throughout was most exemplary and he sacrificed
his self-interest for the greater good, which I think he

came to see. But Howard Baker I think had great reservations
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about letting the preservation peopie have that much organi-
zationdl identity and authority, and Ed Hummel may have
also. No, Ed Hummel wasn't in here then; he was still in
San Francisco. But thefe was.a qreat deal of pressure
brought cn Gesorge not to go-all that direction but <o com~'
promise and accept a watered-down version of what that
Committee had recommended. And George agreed to that less-
than-ideal organization, and Ronnie Lee,. bless his heart,
came back at George and made it absoiuteTy clear that that

just wasn't going to get it.

"If you are going to have a national preservation program
you have to organize yourself to do it, and no more of

these halif-measures will do."

So George's backbone was stiffened up and he stood up to
Baker and Company and approved the organization as it had
been recommended by that Committee. And then, of course,
came the question of who should head it up. It was immedi-
ately organized on paper in December 1967, and I was appoint-

ed Acting Director.

By that time I believe Ernest Connally had consented to be-
come the Chief (it was called them) in the Chief of OAHP.
That had been the farthest thing from his mind during all of
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these Committee hearings, but he thought he saw the oppor-

tunity really to set up the American equivalent of a Euro-
pean Monuments OFffice and do it Tike they did it overseas.
Little did he know that things don't happen that way in

the bureaucracy.

In the first place, Hartzog's rule was a very personal one,
and part of it rested on keeping people off balance, so
that you never get all your due. And while Ernest thought

he was going to run a national preservation program, he

~was not really permitted to do so. He found himself account-

able in more detailed aspects of the job to others than he -

- thought he would be. He found himself hampered and ham-

strung by the prerocgatives of field management so far as the
National Park System was concerned, and by a mentality in
field management basically unsympathetic to the principles

of historic preservation as they are practiced in Europe and.

as he intendad to inaugurate them here.

And finally he found himself hampered and hamstrung by George
Hartzog's constitutional inability to keep his hands off the
organization once it has been reorganized, because no sooner
than we had got set up on paper than he started picking

around at us, trying to figure out how it ought to be done



55.
differently.

And the next reorganization that came along was the one that

- eventuated in a Western and an Eastern Service Center.- And

our office simply contradicted the management philosophy

that the washingtbn 0Ffice is the office that writes policy,

and the field carries it out. And the philosophy that was
part and parcel of that reorganization - that the Sefvice

Center does all of the servicing of the parks and the Regions

. in professional services.

weii;‘here yoﬁ hé&réTi the_éhjineers'andmthe ?éndscaﬂe arch-
itects and the master pianners.in these two Service Centers,
but there were the damned historians Sitting of f there ex~
clusively to themselves, doing their own thing. And that

contradicted the new organizationai philosophy.

And so after great trauma George took our production people
éway from us; all of the research historians that I had
assembled in History in 1968, and the very few (I don't re-
call more than one or two ) architects that we had managed

to get on board in this new 1ittle D&C for Historic Preserva-
tion, suddenly found themselves in the Service Center, East-
tern and Western Service Lenter, and they were gone from

our coop.



56.
So 1mme&iate1y we no longer can be a production unit, that
is so far as the parks go, but you see we still remained -
and still remain to this day - a production operational unit
so far as all of these external programs go, which is a con-
stant irritant to the management, because we are still con-
tradicting the management phiTosophy'that you don't pay any
operating programs in the Washington Office. But they
simply can't be transferred to the Regions, because you
break them up into six parts, you don't have anything left.’
And the Regions don't know anything about it any way. So
there is that irritant; but it makes us conétant?y'vulner-

able if in every reorganization and every flap about the size

- of the Washington 0ffice we get into this: "Well, Utley's

shops have 125 people in it; you know that is bigger than a -

Regional Office.”

EVISON: Is that a fact?

UTLEY: That is a_fact.

And, of course, we are going through this right now again in
connection with the new Director's look at things. So
immediately he lost a good deal of what he thought he was
éoming in here to do. That, coupled with the fact that the

funding for the new program was a long time getting off the
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ground - and again this raises the question of whether this
is the right piace for that kind of program, because here
is historic preservation having to compete for budget allo-
cations with the basic concerns, first of Interior - oil,
gas, water power - and secondly the Parks - Yellowstone,

Grand Teton - for grants-in-aid for historic preservation.

When the Director has a planning allowance to plan against,
which is coming first - Yellowstone or grants-in-aid for his-
toric preservation? There is no question about it. So you
see the_prob?em is always going to be with us; that .that
activity is enough different from the central concerns of the
Service and this Department that there will a]ways be an

etement of unfair competition.

But as we went on down the pike and established our relation-
ships with fhe-States and. the network of State preservation
officers, and the Congress becan to feel the effects of the
interest nationwide in historic preservation; as the adminis-
trations - first of Johnson and then of Nixon - gave in-
creasing emphasis to historic preservation in environmental
terms, not strictly associative terms, 1ike "George Washing-
ton slept here,” but in environmental terms, like "this old

building is a pleasing part of the cityscape and it still
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has years of good use left in it, so therefore you qught
to save it" - that kind of thinking has gained more and
more currency, and as personnel limitations on the Depart-
ment and on the Park Service continued rigidly, while the
budgetéry pdssibi1ities expandad, - which meant we could
get more money if we promised not to hire more people - then -

our fortunas began to take on some cause for optimism.

At this point our grants-in-aid program is at 7.5 million
dollars a year, and we are in for 1974 for 15.5 miliion for
grants-in-aid. So once it is built into the budget base .
you are off and running. So the program has a good Tease

on Tife.  Actually it is a whole series of inter1o¢k1ng pro-
grams that go clear across the spectrum of cultural property,

be they below ground, on the surface, or above ground.

EVISON: I take it that you feel that conditions are right for

the sound expenditure of that much money on this program.

UTLEY:  Oh, there is no qﬁestion about that. Conditions are
right for the expenditure of far more than that. This is a
matching program, and a measure of the potential of the
program is the amount bf dollars that are out there waiting
to match federal dollars for historic preservation purposes.

And we have got 7.5 million dollars in fiscal '73 for
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matching grants-in-aid. But ocut there now in hard cash is

32.5 million QOI1ars to match federal funds. I mean, that

is money that the States have now ready to match us if we'
have the 32.5 million to give them, you see. ' So the need
is there, the willingness is tnare. A central purhose of
any grants program is to prime the pump, and the pump is

flowing, but the handle is not working Tike it ought to now..

EVISON: That is an extraordinary situation.

UTLEY:  And for fiscal 1974 there will be 42 million out there

éwaiting to be matched. And bayond that there are estimates
{they are not as firm as what we have for this year and
next} there are estimates that go as high as 75 million

dollars within the next five years.

So it is a fine program, and really it has grown to a place
where I feel that it is an interference - it has nothing to
do with running Yellowstone, nothing aﬁ ail, and it is a bur-
den to that, and the fact that this organization is run by
people who were hired because they knew how to run Yellow-
stone is a penalty on fhat program. 1t was digestible in
earlier years, but I Tiken it now to the infant that has
grown up and the parent doesn't realize it and is still

treating it as a child,
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1 feel these stresses in the most personal way, right on
my desk. There is a basic incompatability between my respon-
sibi1itiés for the external programs and my responsibilities
as a member or an official of the traditional National Park
Service, because on the one hand my external people, who are
charged with helping and, where necessary, if not fdrcing,
at least tightening the sbrews ot all federal agencies to
comply with the law and the President's Executive Order on
preservation of historic properties. All agencies have to (:::::::i
comply with this law and this Egecutive Order, and-the Na-

tional Park Service is one of them. :Those people ih-my ex~ _

ternal program are telling the National Park Service, along

with every_other agency, "You have to obey the law,” and they
are telling the Park Service, through me, on the other

hand, the Park Service has one of the most dismal records of
any agency, surprisingly, in complying with the laQ and the
Executive Order, simply because they feel they are experts

in this field and that they are above the law.

So here 1 am, representing the Nationa7 Park Service to these
external people, explaining to them why the Hational Park
Sarvice 1s not performing like it should. On the one hand

I have to justify the actions of my external people to a

bunch of Ragional Directors who don't understand the program;
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and on the other hand, I have to jusfify the attitudes and
the actions of the Regional Directors to a bunch of his-
toric preservationists who don't understand the National

Park Service.

And there is a basic incompatabjlity there that has become
dramatic in the last two or three years, especially since
the President's Executive Order on the protection and the

enhancement of the cultural environment.

What the President said, in effect, is it is implicit in

the 1966 Act that no longer is the Park Service the'only

agency concerned with historic preservation. Now eQery
agency is concerned with it. Uhat was implicit in that fict
the President made explicit. He said, "Every government
agency ;111 exémine its land holdings and jdentify what

meets the criteria for the Mational Register, and nominate
those properties to the National Register, and then will
adopt, plans wnich the Secretary of Interior will approve, for
the preservation and care of those cu]tural.properties year
by year, so the Department of Defense has to decide what 13
historic at - Fort S§i11, - put it in the National Register

and tell us how they are going to preserve it. But the Na-

tional Park Service has to also. A1l of ﬁhe historical areas



.

62.
are a]réady in the Register, so there is no real problem
there. But what about Fort Yellowstone, at Yellowstone
Park? That is an histeric property that'meets the criteria,
because we are talking about historic properties c1earl
down to the level of cummunity significance, everytning that
ought to be preserved in this country for its historical

value,

Now, when Jack Anderson puts Fort Yellowstone in the Register,
if I can ever get him to do it, he is registering a historic
property, which to him is'his headquarters and his residen-

tial area.

Now doubiiess - and I use Jack Anderson simply as an examole, ‘
because this problem exists in other parks; all the natural

and recreational areas have this problem ~ it is only human

on their part, you know, if this means that everything I

want to do within the boundaries of Fort Yellowstone has to

be cleared with the President's Advisory Council on Historic
Preservation under Section 106 of the Act, which it does -

I will be damned if I am going to put it in. So here we

have the President of the United States telling every agency

to put everything in the Register that meets the criteria,

and the Park Service is hanging back because it doesn't want
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to be hurdened with_the obligations inherent in that.

:'And the President of the United States and the Regional Di-
rectors éome togéther right on my desk. So I persona]]y_
feel that the time has come to make an organizational
separation of all of that external responsibility if not be-
yord the Park Service at least within the Park Service, so
that there can be an adversary relationship and one offi-
cial doesn't have to argue with himseif,-which is the posi-

tion I am in now. So this is all under very serious con-

sideration right now.

As you may know, fhe Advfsory Board's comment delivered just
Tast month on the Conservation Foundation's report recom-
mended to ihe Secretary exactly that, that this whole ex-
térna? business be cut loose and put somewhere outside the

Park Service.
EVISON: The Advisory Board went along with that?

UTLEY:  The Advisory Board went along with that. Now, as you
know, none of this could even be talked ahout in this kind
of language under either George Hartzog or Connie, becéuse
it would have been a matter that I felt very strongly of my

Toyalty to what I knew George Hartzog to feel, and he would
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have regarded that as treason. I have felt this for years,
and I am on record. 1 have got meﬁoranda going béck to
1964, in which I have said these things, but never could you
say them quite so publicly as now, because I believe this
Director comes to us without any preconceptions or Toyalties
or attachments to the institution that enable him to view

objectively the proper allocation of responsibility.

I don't know what Secretary Morton feels, but I rather sus-
pect that he might be quite averse personally to turning
loose any of these responsibilities, because this'is an area
in which he is personally deeply interested - in historic
preservation - and he has exerted his influence personally
to the extent of reaching right down into my office person-

ally on projects in which he has interest.

So we are very fortunate to have someone who understands his-
toric preservation the way he does, and who is interested in
it to the extent that he is. But the next Secretary, you
know, might very well be an oil and gas man who couldn't

care.less.

So my feeling at this point - and I am assuming that this
won't be broadcast over the radio some time - is that there

ought at this point be a diswinct organizational separation
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made within the National Park Service between our in-park
historical programs and our extermal programs, and the ex-
ternal so organized.that at such propitious time in the
future_that it seems desirable, that could be floated out
of the Park Service and put in a more anpropriata place.
And 1 feel that the Park Service would be more comfortable

with that also.

EVISON: Yes, I imagine that is 50.

You raised so many jdeas here, Bob. I remember the place of
the historian in the administration of historic areas. You
know, when the Park Service first really began to get into
this business up to its knees or its hips, it was routine

to make a historian a superintendent.

UTLEY: That is right, and they do'noﬁ occasionally, too.

EVISON: T always questioned the basic logic of that, and yet I

have been repeatedly astonished at what damned good admin-

istrators a lot of historians made.

UTLEY:  Some of them are pretty damned bad, too, but a lot of

rangers make bad administrators also.

My concern is not so much toc make historians superintendents,

or to put every historical area under a historian superintendent
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as 1t is to shape an organization in which there will be
accountability by the field manager to any intermediate.
levels for the proper management of those areas according
to the policies and standards for historical areas. We

¢o not have that now.

The policies and standards are being repeatedly violated
now. The run-of-the-mill field management on both the

Regional and Park level simply doesn't have the vright kind

of knowiedge and appreciation and sensitivity to the poi-

icies and standards for the historical areas. And the
differences between those policéeﬁ and standards and the
ones that are applicable in the natural and scenic and rec-
reational areas. And there simply must be if the Park Ser-
vice is to keep these historical areas a system that is

along the lines that Schneider recommended back in 1935.

The Canadians have it.

The Canadians have it. They have a National Park and Histor-
ic Sites Service. They have a National Historic Sites Ser-
vice within their over-all Natiomal Park Bureau. And un-

til such time as the lines of authority and accountability
can run from a historical area superintendent to - if not to

a separate echelon, at least to a Regional Office whose
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Regional Director has a powerful right hand who knows what

the business is, and to Washington, where the same thing

exists.

Ernest Connally and I played around with this four oy five
years ago when we were fighting with Hartzog over the proper
organization. Of course, Hartzdg‘s whole organizational purﬁ
pose was toc keep these things so locked together that none

of them could be pulled ogut and put somewhere else. He saw
B.0.R. trying to grab the recreaticnal areas, and he saw

the Smithsonian having imperial designs on the historical
areas; .so he would never go for anything where there was any

sense of discreetness in these three kinds of areas.

But when Udall published his policy pronouncement of 1964,
which George wrote, dividing the National Park System into
three categories of areas - historical, natural, and recrea-
tional - that fairly screamed for aﬁ organization that re-

flected those three categories.

Ernest and I once designed an organizational chart which vas
three~dimensional, and it contemplated the Director on top,‘
and around him a ring below him three Associate Directors -

one for historical areas, one for natural areas, and one for

recreational areas. All of the functional people like
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administration, etc., - cooperative activities - they
could be off here to one side servicing these three basic
organizational components. Then, down on the Regional Jevel

you woq?d have the Director, with the same thing: an Assoc-

- jate Diregtor for each of these three; and the Asssciate

Director for Historical Areas-he is the kingpin. He says
how they are going to be administered. And those superinten-
dents, while theoretically accountable to the Regional

Director, it is that Associate Director for their category

.of area wno is calling the shots. With that kind of a con-

trol system you would estabiish the kind of accountability

that we lack now.

We sit up here and write the historical area policies, as we
did, and then we wrote the standards in rather explicit

detail by which those poiiciés afe to be carried out. But
you go out to the park now - pick any at random - and ask
around there about the historical areas policies or standards,
and nine times out 6f ten they won't even know what they are,

nor ever have read them.

Time and time again we learn by accident in this office of
the more egregious violations of fundamental standards and

policies by the field management of the Park Service. It is
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understandable, given the range éf concerns that a Regional
Director and a superintendent have, but the point is that

if the Park Service is going to be entrusted with this res-
ponsibility, it.damned well better organize itself to carry:

it out, or somebedy eTse will grab it.-

EVISON: This is just immensely interesting. This is some of the

most fascinating stuff I have Tistened to in a long time, Bob.

UTLEY:  Well, T figure I am talking to someone- thirty years from
now, so they can't quote me now. These views that I have
been espousing probably will proverunpopuiar to manyfin the
Park Service now, and I am pretty sure if I had articulated
them to Hartzog he would have taken very great exception to
them and he might even have felt it necessary to find some-

one with views a Tittle more in keeping with his own.

If that had been his feeling, he would have been wrong, be-
cause though I have held these views, 1 have always con-
sidered it ﬁo be the responsibility of the responsible c¢ivil
service servant to reflect and carry out the policies and
wishes of 1ine management. Once management has made up its
mind, it is up to the staff and subordinate manageﬁent to
carry out those views, whether they agree with them or not.

And I did so Toyally and to the best of my ability, and I




.

70.
be?ieve.Gedrge would be the first *o conéede that in every
possible way I was a loyal member of his staff and carried

out what he wanted done as wall as I was able.

And during especially the last two or three years of his ad- .

ministration I believe that he and 1 had a very good work-

ing relationship, and one of mutual trust. He gave me quite

a series ofrsensitive assignments that involved political
situations and meeting in the field with proponents of pro-
posals that maybe were more political than they were any-
thing.r In fact, in the last years most of my time has been
kind of trouble-shooting assignments for the Director of

this sort, so I have a great affection still for George.

EVISON: Yes, me too. You were saying a little bit ago that we

have a set ofrstandards applicable to the development and
management of historic and prehistoric areas, but go to al-
most any one of them and you find not little vielations but
even major violatiens of those principles. I wonder if,
whether you would name the area or not, - you wouldn't get
on here something about what the gharacter of those viola-

tions is.

UTLEY: Well, sure. I remember how outraged 1 was when the Mid-

west Region slapped a parking lot down on top of Reno Hill,

1101
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right on the battle line of Reno Hill, in Custer Battlefield.
We paved the Cumberland Road through Cumbarland Gap. A super-

intendent did it one time.

Right now I am carrying on waffare with one of the Regioné :
which wants to adaptively restore'a historic house of the
first order of significance as a residence. Now this parti- '
cular house was added to the area because it is one of very
few - almost a handful - of 17th century houses still ex-
tant in the United States, and we acquired it -~ the Con-

gress authorized it - because of that character. OQur po]icy-
says that historic buildings of the first order of signi-
ficance shall NOT be adaptively restored. The kegion and

the Park has every intention of restoring it as a residence,
The policy is there, the standard is there, the 1egisTdtive
history is there. The Congress said, "This is the reason we
are going to give it to you, so you can preserve it as a

17th century house."

This is the kind of thing we face, and we do not have the

muscle here organizationally to enforce this kind of thing,

except through the Director. There is no means by which we

automatically will know of it. When we discover these things

it is purely by chance.

e
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EVISON: And I would suppose dften too late.

UTLEY:  Often too late, that is right. Rigﬁt now our histori-
cal area policies very clearly and specificafiy set forth
the conditions under wnich weAwi11 program fecdnstruction ~
that is, building from the groundrup somathing that was

there once that has vanished altogether.

In the program right ncw for the Bigentennial there is ten
Vmi1lion dollars worth of reconstructions, and I don't expect
more than one million of that could be justified under those
crieteria. And 1t is especially lamentable whén the sur-
'viving historic structures and resourcés of the System are
fa11ihg down around our ears; when the cupcla on the Hampton
House up here near Baltimore is being held up by nothing
more than accumulated lTayers of paint - two centuries of
paint is holding up the cupola. The wood has rotted away
from it. And yet we are reconstructing earthworks at
Saratoga and Yorktown. The Augustus Saint Gaudens Home -
Augustus Saint Gaudens, the sculptor - which was brought
into the Park Service in 1964 or thereabouts, is literally
rotting down arocund us, so much so that the Foundation that
had custody of it and from which we obtained it, was so

alarmed at the inaction of the Mational Park Service at
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responding to this crisis that it put up the money to do the |
necessary repairs, and they hired a competent architect,

who then got sick but the work went on and it was improperly

- done., And Sainf Gaudens is administered by the same super-

intendent who is programming millions of dollars of recon-

struction for Saratoga Battlefield.

EVISON: And wanting to do something with the Schyuler House

that he éhou]dn't, by any chanca?

UTLEY: I can't ¢ite that now. It has been 6one for soma time

=1

now. But this fs*the xind of thing that is happénihg all too
freguently, around the Park System, and it is indicative of
the need for a basic scrutiny and soul-searching examination: .
Number one - of whether this agency wants to have the respon-
sibility of administering the historical areas, and two, if
so, what it has fo do in order properly to carry oﬁ% those

responsibilities.

But the Service has never, never been willing to make the
commitment in terms of proporticnate resources in personnel

and money, budget authority, and so forth, proportionate to

the tatal that are demanded by the historical areas.

Two thirds of the units of the National Park System are. in
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the historical area category - 180. There are 299 areas
in the National Park System. That is a pretty large share
of the responsibility of the National Park Service, especial-

ly if you add on top all of this external fesponsibiiity.

It simply has been a judgment that needed making for the
last forty years, but the Park Service has never been able

to come to grips with it. It did better in the late 30's

“than ever. Demaray adhered to the counsel of his histori--

cal advisprs, and in violation-or defiance of most manage-

_ment precepts, permitted a connection between the Washington

Office Historical Branch and the Park Historian. Ye couldn't
begin now to communicate with the Park Historian from this
office: We have got to go through the Regional Director

and the superintendent before we can get to him. But they
had monthly reports then; the historian wrote to the Chief
Historian, - the Park Historian - so they knew what was

going on and when something was going on that shouldn't,

and they were able to bring about a correction.

Of course, it was a smaller Park System then.

EVISON: 1 would suppose that even if you got this separation and

adequate set-up for it, and were able to get away from hav-

ing the work jo through the kind of Regional Director and
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Regional Office that you-do now, you would probably still

have your Regional Offices?

UTLEY:  Oh, yes, and I am not advocating that kind of direct
relationship but what I am aoncating is that there be a
strong Assistant Directorate for ﬁistory here;-that there
be a strong one in the Region, with a management official, o
an Associate Director, - sitting right by the Regional Di-
rector fér this function, leading down to the parks to make
it responsible and accountable and to insure that the star-

dards and policies are enforced.

EVISON: ©Cne thing that occurs to me immediately. Yoﬁ were talk-
ing a while ago about the Fort Yellowstone situation: Now,
there is a case where you don't have 3 historical area but
a very important historical feature in what is predominant-
1y a natural area. So whgtever kind of organization you had

would always have to be cutting across }ines.

UTLEY: I would not, if we were to do this properly, use the
terminology, really, of an Associate Director for National

Historical Areas. I would say, "An Associate Director for

Historic Resources."

The red book - the policy - the administrative policy now is
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for Historical Areas. We are going to make that the Admin-
istrative Policy for Historical Resources. And the way,
you see, we have rationalized this thing now the President

has said to every agency, "You put on the National Register

~and take care of everything that meets the National Ragister

criteria.”

If the Commandant at Fort Si11 has got to do that, the
superinténdent at Yellowstone damn sure does too, whether
he runs a natural area or not. The Commandant at Fort Si17

can say, "I am running a training installation program for

- soldiers.” But the President has said I have got to take

care of Fort Sill.. The President has said that Jack Ander-
son has got to take care of Fort Yellowstone. This is un<
fair to Jack Anderson, because he is putting Fort Yellow-
stone on the National Registér bﬁt there are others we are
arguing with him about and other superintendents Qe are ar-

guing with.

But here is how the connection should go: "The land classi-
fication plan in the master pfan, Class 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6:
Ctass 6 is Historical and Cultural, and everything in a park
that meets the criteria of the National Register needs -

Number T to go into the National Register and Mumber 2 to go

T T
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into the Class 6 category in the Master Plan. Everything
in the National Register is subject to the protective fea-

tures of the National Historic Preservation Act, but every-

thing that is Class 6 by Internal National Park Service

fiat is supposed to be administered according to those

historical area policies, so this makes a lot of sense to

connect our internal system with the external. system. ‘But

you see the crucial step in this is to make the superinten-
dents nominate those‘pfoperties into the National Register,
because they can't be either until you get them into the
Register. And all too many are simply substituting a manage-
ment decision that they don't want to put a given‘property //
into the Register for a determination—of what meets ?ﬁfﬂﬂﬂ__fj
criteria. ' '
We are not the only agency doing this kind of thing.r It is
only natural for a manager concerned with other things not
to want to trouble himself with considerations that seem bg-

yond his immediate job.

EVISON: Suppose you, as chief historian, know that there is a

Fort Yellowstone which the superintendent is not recommending
for historical area status (both speaking: not understand-

able) - because he doesn't do it?
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UTLEY:  This is the adversary relationship with myself that I

was talkfhg to you about a while ago. 1 am not Chief His-
torian any more. I preside over this whole office now, |
and my people iﬁ the Register here who are concerned with
the National Register - we have got one-half ﬁiTTion doilars
in my office to carry out the provisions of that Executive

Order. So I have got people there who are figuratively

- cracking the whip on other government agencies. These

people are talking to me about the failure of the National
Park Service to get these things on the Register. ‘I am
turning around and trying, without the authority to do so,
to make Len Yolz and Jack Anderson do what they are sunposad
to do, at the same time that as their representative in
effect I am trying to explain to these external affairs
peopie why it isn't being done properly, you sea. And there
ought to be someone over there arguing with me, if I am
going to defend the Regional Directors and superintendents,
or I ought to be over thefe.arguﬁng with someone over here

who is defending the Regional Directors and superintendents.

EVISON:  You need two chairs and two hats, don't you?

UTLEY: That is right, and they don't both fit at the same time.

It is interesting, and I think the problem is increasingly
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recognized, at least on this Tevel. I must say I don't see
ény great insight in the Regional Offices on this problem
or on the problem I have outlined of the proper management

of the historic resources of the System.

It is becoming ever more serious, because Secfetary Morton
has become personally concerned over the historic struc-
tures of the National Park System, and he has wagged his
finger in Ernest Connally's face and Director Walker's

face, and said: "As you go aldng with é]l of these frothy
Bicentennial programs are you neélecting other resources that
don't happen to have that Bicentennial label on them? What

are the structural resources of the Nationa} Park System?"

Well, we have had authorized and required ever since these
historical area policies were published in 1968, an instru-
ment that we call "The List of Classified Structures.® This
is supposed to be an inventory of every historic structure:
in the National Park System and what is supposed to be done
to it - preservation, restoration, adaptive restoration,
what have you, and how much it will cost. But the building

of that instrument depends upon the field, depends upon the

Regions making the parks do it, and getting the material to

us. We have hooked that process to the National Register

process, that the Regional Directors in the field are respon-
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responsible for nominations; and at fhe same time they
nominate to the Register they tell us what is on the list
of classified structures. But the Secretary of the n-
terior wants to know what are.your historic structures and

wnat it will cost to put them in proper shape.

You would think that is something that the National Park
Service ought.to be able to tell him, just by Tooking at

the records. We don®t know what the Historic Structures

of the National Park Service are, still less do we knbw'the
magnitude of the job to get them into proper-shape, IWe

have been in this business since 1935, Wouldn't you suppose
that after almost forty years we would be able tolsay what
are the historic structures of the System and how much it

will cost to put them in a maintenance condition?
EVISON: Also, I would suppose some priorities there.

UTLEY:  That is right. That is what the Secratary is séying.
~ He is saying, "I am not sure that your priorities are in the
right shape.” Just what I said to you a while ago: If you
are reconstructing the battle lines at Saratoga, and you
are letting Hampton fall down because there is no wood

left in the cupola, it is all right.

17
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So you see this just comes back to what feelings have been
running through my remarks; that the Service has either got

to Tet it go or else it has got to take it seriously.

EVISON: Fish or cut bait.

UTLEY:  That is right. And 1 am willing to go either way.

And T should emphasize that I have been with the National Park
Service for a long time. I heve roots that go back in it to‘
your time; and most of the top management of the Service now
cannot say that. There are not very many of us in Washington
who can claim service that goes back so far as I can, and

I have 2 loyalty and a real regard and an affection for this
Service that not all of them up here have, and so what I

nhave been saying should not be taken as in any way an ex-

pression of disloyalty to what is really one of the very fin-

est Federal agencies, as we all recognize.

EVISGN: I couldn't help thinking as I listened to you; here the

Park Service has a brand new Director with a whole set of
impressioﬁs still to be made on his intellect, and I think
one of the healthiest things he could do would be either to
tisten to these tapes or take an evening to read this trans-

cription. And I am strongly minded when I send this up to
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Harpers Ferry to say, "Give this oriority," because I
think you have possibly done a very great service to the
Service by coming up here and talking - taking your back:

hair down this way.

UTLEY: I have had some opportunities'to talk with the new Di-
rector too, not at such Tength; and I agree with you. 1
would like to have him hear these words, and I have no ob-

jection to his hearing them.

EVISON: Then you don't object to my making a move in that di-

rection?

UTLEY:  No, go right ahead. There is nothing in there thaf
hasn't been communicated to him one way or another. You know,
it gets lost - I am sure, in all the other perceptions he
is picking up and trying to absorb at one time. But even
though I may have seemed critical of some of our field
people, this doesn't mean that I don't hold them in great

.affection. I have worked with them for many years. They
simply haQe an orientation that is different from mine;

but institutionally there is nothing in there that I have

not advocated for years, or at least felt for years and don‘t

believe that the Park Service should address itself to.
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And I think it can all be summed up as you just did: It is
time for the Service to fish or cut bait. And I will go

in either direction.

EVISON: Well, Bob, we have a Tittle more tape left hera, but wa
| are close to the end of what to me has been onz of the most
fascinating and most constructive interviews that I have

made, and I am talking about more than three hundred of thenm.

UTLEY:  Well, I am delighted that it has been worth your time.

- EVISON:  But maybe this is a good time to call it an afternoon.

UTLEY:  Well, we had better, because I can tell you that my
in-box down there fills up to overflowing in an hour's time

3

and we have heen at it for two-and-a-half hours.

EVISON: A perfectly wonderful two-and-a-half hours, énd I am

immensely obligated to you for it.

UTLEY:  You are very welcome. I am delighted to have talked to

you.

(End of interview)



